IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF OHIO

EASTERN DIVISION

THE OHIO STATE UNIVERSITY,



Plaintiff,







v.

Case No. 2:99-CV-1272



JUDGE SARGUS

GROUND HOG PRODUCTIONS, et al.,

Magistrate Judge Kemp

Defendants.



OPINION AND ORDER

This matter is before the Court for consideration of the Plaintiffs motion for a Temporary Restraining Order.  For the reasons that follow, the motion is GRANTED and a temporary restraining order is issued.

l.

Ohio State University [“OSU”], an institution of the State of Ohio, brings this action under the Federal Trademark Act, 15 U.S.C. §1051, et seq., and the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. §1125(a) and (e). Defendant Ground Hog Productions [“GHP”] is a general partnership formed by defendants David J. Merchant and Jon R. Fitzgerald.

OSU is the owner of a series of federally registered trademarks.  In 1997, OSU registered with the Patent and Trademark Office, the mark “Ohio State” with “0” (a facsimile of which is annexed as Exhibit 1).   The mark was registered on four separate occasions in 1997 for use on a wide variety of items including, inter alia, apparel, footballs, mugs, and posters.  OSU has also registered the mark “Buckeye” on four separate occasions.  The uses described in the registrations include somewhat similar, but more extensive, types of items than those listed in connection with the registration of “Ohio State” with “O.” The plaintiff actively markets a wide range of products displaying either or both trademarks.

The plaintiff alleges that the defendants have developed and are currently operating a website at “http.//wwwbuckeyegirls.com.”  The site includes a number of pages (at least forty-three), attached in printed farm to the affidavit of Valerie Hailer, which contain the block “O” and references to “buckeye girls” or “buckeye.” The website appears to be primarily devoted to the display and marketing of females in various stages of undress and in sexually explicit conduct. While the question of whether the pages enjoy protection under the First Amendment is not an issue in this case, the Court agrees with the plaintiffs assertion that the website promotes and makes use of OSU’s trademark in a manner that is inconsistent with the reputation and good will sought by the plaintiff in the use of its trademarks.

The plaintiff claims in its Motion for a Temporary Restraining Order that the defendants have (1) infringed upon OSU’s registered trademarks; (2) engaged in unfair competition by deliberately creating a false designation of origin; and (3) diluted the plaintiff’s trademark by using the mark without permission in a manner likely to offend potential customers of the plaintiff.

II.

The Court analyzes the relief sought by the plaintiff under a familiar four-pad analysis, including (1). the likelihood of the plaintiff’s success on the merits; (2) whether the plaintiff will suffer irreparable harm; (3) whether the injunctive relief sought will harm third parties; and (4) whether the public interest will be served by the injunctive relief sought.  Martin-Marietta Corp. v. Bender Corp., 690 F.2d 558 (6th Cir. 1982).

In assessing claims brought under 15 U.S.C. §1114(a) or §1125(a) alleging infringement of trademark and unfair competition in false designation of origin, the Court must consider the following factors:

(I) the defendants’ intent in selecting the mark;

(2) the similarity of the marks;

(3) the relatedness, or similarity, of the goods;

(4) the strength of plaintiff’s mark;

(5) the evidence of actual confusion;

(6) the marketing channels used;

(7) the likely degree of purchaser care;

(8) the likelihood of expansion of the product lines.

Champion Golf Club, Inc. v. The Champions Golf Club, Inc., 78 123 d 1111 (6”’ Cir. 1996). 

In evaluating the plaintiff’s claim for dilution of its trademark in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1125(c), the Court looks to whether a mark places the trademark “in a negative context, thus reducing its value.” American Dairy Queen Corp. v New Line Productions1 Inc., 35 F.Supp.2d 727, 729 (D. Minn. 1998).  Courts have determined that § 1125(c) permits claims for “tarnishment” of a mark when the trademark is used, without permission, “in connection with sexually explicit materials.”  Id. at 733.

On a preliminary basis, this Court finds that plaintiff has demonstrated a likelihood of success on the merits of its claims under 15 U.S.C. §1114(a) and §1125(a) and (c).  With respect to the claims alleging infringement of trademark as well as unfair competition, the Court finds that the plaintiff has met its burden under Champion Golf Club, Inc.  The limited record preliminarily indicates that the marks were deliberately selected by the defendants to market their products by association with OSU.  The use of the block “0” together with “buckeye girls” demonstrates a clear relatedness or similarity to the plaintiffs mark.  Further, based upon the affidavit of Richard Van Brimmer, the Court preliminarily finds that the marks for which the plaintiff seeks protection arc strong.  Such strength is “a factual determination of the mark’s distinctiveness. . . and, therefore, the more protection it is due.”  Frisch’s Restaurant, Inc. .v.  Shoney’s, Inc., 759 F.2d 261, 1264 (6th Cir. 1985).

The plaintiff avers, and the Court finds, from the verified complaint that OSU has used the registered trademarks continuously and exclusively for identification with Ohio State University in conjunction with its academic, athletic, philanthropic, and entertainment activities. Further, based upon the limited record necessarily accompanying a motion seeking emergency relief, the Court finds that in the mind of consumers, the registered trademarks are now associated with OSU.

A plaintiff need not establish all eight factors set forth in Champion Golf Club, Inc., supra.   Instead, those factors serve to determine the larger question of “whether confusion would be likely to result from simultaneous use of the two contested marks.”  Worthington Foods, Inc. v. Kellogg Company, 732 F.Supp. 1417, 1432 (S.D. Ohio 1990).

By using the name “buckeye” in the designation of its website together with block “0,” the defendants have created a likelihood of confusion in the use of marks.  OSU operates a website and actively engages in commercial marketing of products using its registered marks.  Potential customers, current students, prospective students, among others could access defendants’ website by mistakenly assuming that a “buckeye” website was an official site or otherwise sanctioned by OSU.

As to plaintiffs claims for dilution, the Court finds on a. preliminary basis that, the use of a similar mark by defendants in a sexually explicit and potentially offensive manner to many consumers creates a likelihood of damage to the value of plaintiff’s mark. As owner of the mark, OSU holds the right to determine the use, context and association of the trademark.  It may obtain relief under the Federal Trademark Act to prevent use of its mark, or a mark sufficiently similar, in a manner which many of its potential customers may find offensive.

Having determined that plaintiff has demonstrated the likelihood of success on the merits, the Court next addresses whether OSU will suffer irreparable harm. Once a party has demonstrated a likelihood of confusion, the law presumes that irreparable injury will occur in the absence of an injunction. DAP Products, Inc. v. Color Tile Mfg.,  Inc., 821 F.Supp. 488, 493 (S.D. Ohio 1993).  To hold otherwise would leave plaintiff with no remedy.  By losing the exclusive use of the marks, the owner is divested of the entire value of the property interest; damages are typically “not susceptible of adequate measure.” Processed Plastic Co. v. Warner Communications, Inc., 675 F.2d 852, 858 (7th Cir. 1982).  The Court concludes that OSU will suffer irreparable harm if an injunction is not issued.

The Court also determines that no third party will suffer cognizable injury if an injunction is issued. Finally, the public interest favors the granting of an injunction to prevent misappropriation, infringement, or dilution of’ registered trademarks.

III.

Pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 65(b), it is therefore ORDERED and DECREED that

Defendants Ground Hog Productions, Inc., David K. Merchant, and Jon K. Fitzgerald are ordered and commanded to cease:

(a)  Operating “Buckeye Girls” website, www.buckeyegirls.com
(b)  Making any commercial use of

(1) the terms “Buckeye Girls” or “buckeyegirls.com”

(2) the trademark “Buckeye” “Block O” and “Block O with Buckeye Leaves” and

(3) any other federally registered trademark owned by OSU

(c)  Falsely designating the origin of OSU’s trademarks described in (b);

(d)  Diluting the trademarks owned by OSU by use of any terms set forth in (b).

This Order shall be in effect from November 23, 1999 through December 3, 1999 and may be extended for an additional ten day period.  This Order shall take effect upon the posting with the Clerk of Courts of a Five Thousand Dollar ($5,000) bond by plaintiff.

The plaintiff’s motion for a preliminary injunction is set for hearing on December 8, 1999 at 9:30 am.

IT IS SO ORDERED.  
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